THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Eugene P. Warr, Jr., Special Referee

---

Appellate Case No. 2019-001062

---

RECEIVED

Aug 10 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Vincent C. Carter d/b/a Elite  
Construction Co.,

Respondent,

v.

Eagles Landing Restaurants,  
LLC,

Appellant.

---

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

LAW OFFICE OF BROOKS R. FUDENBERG LLC  
Brooks R. Fudenberg SC Bar No. 0072019  
171 Church Street  
Suite 170  
Charleston, SC 29401  
843-416-2558  
Attorney for Appellant

##

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did The Special Referee Err In Not Crediting Appellant Restaurateur For The Amounts It Paid To Carolina Construction Solutions And Not Setting Off The Amounts Saved?
- II. Did The Special Referee Make A Mathematical Or Clerical Error That This Court Should Correct?
- III. Did The Special Referee Err In Failing To Require Respondent Contractor To Reimburse Appellant Restaurateur For Lost Income Caused By Respondent's Delays?
- IV. Did The Special Referee Apply The Wrong Standard In Ruling On Appellant Restaurateur's Rule 59 Motion?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case concerns the conversion of a former Ruby Tuesday's restaurant into an IHOP Restaurant. The parties are the Contractor and the Restaurateur. The case involves claims by Contractor and counter-claims by Restaurateur.

This case began on March 21, 2016, when the Contractor, Plaintiff-Respondent Vincent C. Carter ("Vince"), d/b/a "Elite Construction Co." filed suit in the Florence County Court. (R. pp. 20-22). Contractor alleged causes of action for breach of contract and quantum meruit against Restaurateur, Defendant-Appellant Eagles Landing Restaurants, LLC ("Eagles Landing"), stemming from a contract to upfit the restaurant. (*Id.*). Restaurateur answered on May 2, 2016 (R. pp. 23-27), and counterclaimed for breach of contract (R. p. 24), fraud/constructive fraud (R. p. 25), quantum meruit/unjust enrichment (R. p. 26), negligence/gross negligence (*id.*), and indemnity (R. pp. 26-27).

On April 4, 2017, Contractor moved for reference to a Special Referee. Restaurateur consented. (R. pp. 18-19).

The case was referred to Eugene Warr, Jr., as Special Referee, by order of the Honorable Michael G. Nettles, dated May 2, 2017. (R. p. 18).

The action was tried as a bench trial on December 20, 2017. (R. p. 1).

The Special Referee issued an order almost a year later, on October 25, 2018.

(*Id.*) In that order, he

(a) found for Contractor in the amount of \$165,131.59 (*id.*, p. 8);

(b) found for Restaurateur in the amount of \$5,000.76 (*id.*, p. 7);

(c) denied Restaurateur's claim for lost profits (*id.*);

(d) stated that Appellant was responsible for the costs incurred by Carolina Construction Solutions, which had provided additional electricians, and reserved for later determination the question of attorney fees incurred by Carolina Construction (*id.* p. 6); and

(e) directed that "the cost for the Special Referee be apportioned equally between the Plaintiff and Defendant to include the appearance fee and the costs of the transcript as requested by the Court to provide a thorough review of the facts and figures" (*id.* p. 8).

On October 30, Restaurateur filed a motion pursuant to Rules 52(e) and 59(e), SCRCP. (R. pp. 809-10).

On November 5, Contractor filed a motion pursuant to Rule 59(e). (R. pp. 811-12).

In the interim between the filing of the original order and the filing of the Special Referee's order on the Rule 59 motions, Restaurateur paid Carolina Construction Solutions \$50,000.00. (R. p. 10 (Supp. Order p. 2)).

On May 28, 2019, the Special Referee issued a Supplemental Order. It addressed the competing Rule 59 motions. (R. pp. 9-14). The order stated the standard for considering such motions as follows:

The Fourth Circuit has similarly said of Rule 59(e) motions that “[i]n general reconsideration of a judgment after its entry is an extraordinary remedy which should be used sparingly.” *Pacific Ins. Co. v. American Nat'l Fire Assoc.*, 148 F.3d 396,403 (4th Cir. 1998) (citations omitted). The Fourth Circuit, applying South Carolina law, established three grounds for revisiting a settled matter under Rule 59(e): (1) to accommodate an intervening change in the law; (2) to account for new evidence not previously available; and (3) to correct a clear error of law or prevent manifest injustice. *Dockins v. Benchmark Commc'ns*, 180 F.R.D. 294, 295 (D.S.C. 1998), *aff'd*, 176 F.3d 745 (4th Cir. 1999); *see also E.E.O.C. v. Lockheed Martin Corp., Aero & Naval Sys.*, 116 F.3d 110, 172 (4th Cir. 1997). A Rule 59(e) motion may not be used to relitigate old matters. *Pacific Ins. Co.*, 148 F.3d at 403.

(R. p. 12 (Supp. Order p. 4)) (emphasis added).

The order then denied each party's Rule 59 motion. (R. p. 13 (Supp. Order p. 5)).

The order also resolved the previously-reserved issue regarding Carolina Construction Solutions by ordering Appellant Eagles Landing Restaurants, LLC, to pay Respondent Vincent Carter an additional \$16,664.16 and interest thereon. (R. p. 11 (Supp. Order p. 3)).

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This case involves a construction dispute. Appellant Eagles Landing Restaurants, LLC (“Restaurateur”) is a limited liability corporation. It is owned by Mohammed Makawi. (R. p. 769 (Pl.’s Ex. 2, p. 14)).

Through his limited liability companies, Mr. Makawi is an IHOP franchisee. (R. p. 359, lines 14-16; Tr. 332:14-16). He owns eight IHOPs. (*Id.*, lines 17-19).

Mr. Makawi had previously upfitted other buildings to make them into IHOPs, in conformance with IHOP standards. (R. p. 361 lines 7-17; Tr. 334:7-17). He identified a location in James Island to convert into an IHOP restaurant. It had previously been a Ruby Tuesday’s. (R. p. 192, lines 2-3; Tr. 165:2-3). It required upfitting to become an IHOP.

Plaintiff-Respondent Vincent C. Carter (“Vince”) is the principal and sole employee “Elite Construction Co.,” which is an unincorporated, d/b/a name for Vince.

Vince has known Mohamed for many years. (R. p. 105, line 25 – p. 106, line 3; R. p. 369, lines 13-15; Tr. 78:25-79:3; 342:13-15). Vince walked into Mr. Mohammed’s office one day and learned about the project. (R. p. 105, line 25 – p. 106, line 3; Tr. 78:25-79:3). Vince asked to take a look at it. (*Id.*)

Vince then put in a bid at \$624,354.00. (R. p. 489 (Pl.’s Ex. 1, p. 3); R. p. 106, lines 20-23; Tr. 79:20-23).

By the time the project was completed, Restaurateur had spent \$923,078.97. (R. p. 235, line 23 – p. 236, line 1; Tr. 208:23-209:1). And had incurred additional

obligations relating to the upfit for a total of more than a million dollars—  
\$1,019,037.03.<sup>1</sup>

Yet Vince, the Contractor, sued, asking Restaurateur to pay even more.  
(Complaint). The Contractor now maintains that \$1.3 million would be reasonable.  
“I would say 1.2, 1.3 million dollars to have a turnkey restaurant is pretty  
reasonable.” (R., p. 254, lines 19-21; Tr. 227:19-21).

At trial, Vince admitted that he had provided no invoices, no estimates, no  
quotes or the like to justify the charges, and that even on the date of trial, he had no  
such documents. (R. p. 245, lines 6-20; Tr. 218:6-20.) There was no description of  
the work in any of the documents Vince possessed.<sup>2</sup> (R. p. 253, lines 3-6; Tr. 226:3-  
6). Instead, Vince claimed that he had estimated a price that he thought was  
“reasonably fair,” then added a “management fee” to the estimate, and then added a  
25% surcharge to the estimated price and management fee.

---

<sup>1</sup> See R. 286, lines 6-13; Tr. 259:6-13,

Q; . . . . So the total amount [Restaurateur] has paid for this project is  
923,078 -- \$923,078 dollars -- seventy-eight -- and 78.97 cents,  
correct?

A That is correct.

Q All right. And that we've incurred \$1,019,037.03, correct?

A Correct.

<sup>2</sup> In contrast, when Restaurateur paid the subcontractors directly, Restaurateur  
always obtained receipts detailing the work done. *Compare* Defendant-Appellant's  
Exhibit 8 (R. pp. 792-804) (detailed receipts) *with* Plaintiff-Respondent's Exhibit 12  
(R. pp. 587-697) (consisting simply of cancelled checks without invoices or the like).

Q So you, essentially, went back, put a date on here of June the 15th of most of these, and put a number you thought was fair?

A No -- no, as far -- I put a number that I thought was reasonably fair due to my years of experience, yes.

(R. p. 246, line 21 – p. 247, line 1; Tr. 219:21-220:1) (emphasis added).

He then added a “management fee” for his work, plus a “profit” of “20, 25 percent.” (R. p. 263, lines 1-13; Tr. 236:1-13). Apparently, this is calculated to provide a “20, 25 percent” markup on the management fee as well.

Vince’s counsel explained to the Court an example of how this works. (R. p. 264, lines 4-15; Tr. 237:4-15). In his telling, a \$20,000 charge to Vince became a \$33,519.43 charge to Restaurateur (*id.*)—more than a two-thirds markup. Vince himself explained another example. His firm incurred a cost of \$15,204.83. (R. p. 266, lines 18-22; Tr. 239:18-22). His firm then charged Restaurateur \$31,506.04. (R. p. 267, lines 7-9; Tr. 240:7-9). That is more than a 100% markup.

No reasonable restaurant-owner would agree to construction under terms like this.

Substantial completion of the project was 75 to 105 days late. Vince’s bid had a completion date of 90 days after the commencement date, yet the contract that Vince provided to Eagles Landing stated a completion date of 120 days after commencement. (R. p. 56, lines 6-12; R. p. 233, lines 17-23; Tr. 29:6-12; 206:17-23). The commencement date of the contract was the ninth of April, 2015. (R. p. 232, lines 23-25; Tr. 205:23-25). The project was substantially completed on October 23, 2015. (R. p. 706 (Pl.’s Ex. 14); R. p. 84, lines 18-22; R. p. 233, line 24 – p. 234, line 3;

Tr. 57:18-22; 206:24-207:3). Even using the expanded 120-days-for-completion, the project was 75 days late. (One hundred and twenty days from April 9, 2015 was August 9 2015. (R. p. 233, lines 17-23; Tr. 206:17-23). From August 9 to October 23 is 75 days. (*See also* R. p. 403, lines 1-6; R. p. 410, lines 7-9; Tr. 376:1-6; Tr. 383:7-9 (completion of project was late by two and a half months)).

“Substantial completion” was defined as a Certificate of Occupancy being issued. (R. p. 706 (Pl.’s Ex. 14); R. p. 233, line 24 – p. 234, line 3). As the Court below recognized, receiving a Certificate of Occupancy would enable Appellant Restaurateur to bring staff in to begin training, and then to open the restaurant for business. (R. p. 408, line 25 – p. 409, line 2; *see also* R. p. 329, line 25 – p. 330, line 2; R. p. 362, line 25 – p. 363, line 4; R. p. 375, lines 1-11). Every day that the restaurant is not open, Restaurateur was losing money. (R. p. 56, lines 13-17; R. p. 234, lines 14-18). The two-and-a-half month delay cost Restaurateur \$35,892.26 a month, based on its comparable monthly income. (R. pp. 790-91, 805 (Def.’s Exs. 7, 9); R. p. 296, lines 1-5; Tr. 269:1-5). Restaurateur asked for only two months of lost income, or \$71,784.52. (R. pp. 790-91, 805 (Def.’s Exs. 7, 9); R. p. 296, lines 1-5; Tr. 269:1-5).

The Special Referee denied Restaurateur’s claim to lost profits, but stated nothing about his reasoning for do so. (R. p. 7 (Order. p. 7); R. pp. 12-13 (Supp. Order, pp. 4-5)).

One reason for the delay was that mold was discovered in the building. However, this delayed the project for only ten days or less (R. p. 64, lines 11-15; R.

p. 74, lines 5-8, p. 321, line 5 – p. 322, line 11), not months. In fact, to reduce the delay, Restaurateur requested that additional electricians be hired via a company that could put more electricians on the job. (R. p. 504 (Pl.’s Ex. 4); R. p. 237, line 24 – p. 238, line 2; R. p. 465, lines 3-8).<sup>3</sup> Vince agreed—and then charged Restaurateur for the work performed by these new electricians in addition to, not instead of, the amount Vince had budgeted for the work.

The Special Referee required Restaurateur to pay the entirety of the \$66,664.16 (plus interest) associated with these additional electricians who were brought in to get the job done (R. pp. 2-3; 10-11) (amounts of \$50,000 and \$16,664.16)). Yet he inexplicably failed to allow Restaurateur a credit for the amount that had been originally budgeted to do the job.

Nor did the Special Referee provide any offset at all for Restaurateur’s lost income. He offered no explanation for failing to offset the lost income, stating simply “I concluded that the Defendant is not entitled to damages for . . . lost

---

<sup>3</sup> As described in the Contractor’s own Exhibit 4, a “change order” that Vince himself wrote:

“Carolina Construction Solutions aided in the completion of electrical services needed on the project.”

(R. p. 504 (Pl.’s Ex. 4)).

The reason for hiring Carolina Construction was “to complete all electrical as quickly as possible.” (*Id.*). See also R. p. 237, line 24 – 238, line 2; Tr. 210:24-211:2 (Vince agreeing that “Carolina Construction Solutions aided in the completion of electrical services needed on the project.”); R. p. 465, lines 3-8; Tr. 438:3-8 (Restaurateur agreeing that he asked for further electricians to be hired in order to get the job “sped up” because they were “already late.”)

income.” (R. p. 7 (First Order, p. 7)). Although Defendant Restaurateur timely filed a Rule 59 motion asking the Special Referee to reconsider, specifically objecting to the failure to find liability “for lost income or other delay damages to Defendant” (R. p. 12 (Supp. Order p. 4)), the Special Referee refused to do so, incorrectly believing that he could consider a Rule 59 motion only as “an extraordinary remedy,” available only in three narrow situations, and “not . . . to relitigate old matters” (*id.*) (citing and quoting only federal cases).

## ARGUMENT

### Standard of Review

The standard of review for all Issues in this brief is de novo. *See, e.g., Bennett & Bennett Constr., Inc. v. Auto Owners Ins. Co.*, 405 S.C. 1, 4, 747 S.E.2d 426, 427 (2013) (Questions of law are reviewed de novo). As the reasons for a de novo standard of review subtly differ among the Issues raised in this brief, this brief provides a brief discussion of the standard of review for each issue within the discussion of each issue.

#### **I. THE SPECIAL REFEREE ERRED IN NOT CREDITING APPELLANT RESTAURATEUR FOR THE AMOUNTS IT PAID TO CAROLINA CONSTRUCTION SOLUTIONS AND NOT SETTING OFF THE AMOUNTS SAVED.**

### Standard of Review

Where a party has shown a clear entitlement to a setoff, denial of the setoff is an error of law, subject to de novo review. *Cf. Perry v. Sullivan Mfg. Co.*, 6 S.C. 310, 311 (1875) (noting without comment that the Referee found “as an issue of law, that

[plaintiff] was entitled to set off"); *Bennett & Bennett Constr., Inc. v. Auto Owners Ins. Co.*, 405 S.C. 1, 4, 747 S.E.2d 426, 427 (2013) (issues of law are reviewed de novo). Alternatively, there is case law suggesting that denial of a setoff is subject to an abuse of discretion standard. *Bentrim v. Bentrim*, 282 S.C. 333, 335-36, 318 S.E.2d 131, 133 (Ct. App. 1984) (concerning family law matter).

As argued below, the refusal to offset the amounts saved by hiring additional electricians against the costs incurred was clearly erroneous, and thus reversible under any standard of review.

### **Discussion**

The parties disputed whether the additional costs incurred in hiring Carolina Construction Solutions should be attributed to Restaurateur, or to Contractor. These electricians were hired to increase the speed of the electrical work and thus reduce the delay in completing the project. The company that Contractor had initially engaged could provide only two electricians at a time. Carolina Construction Solutions could and did provide more electricians at a time, thus speeding the completion date. (R. p. 504 (Pl.'s Ex. 4); R. p. 80, lines 21-24; R. p. 237, line 24 – p. 238, line 2; R. p. 465, lines 3-8; Tr. 53:21-24; 210:24-211:2; 438:3-8).

However, there was, or should be, no dispute that if Restaurateur is responsible for that additional cost, Restaurateur is liable only for that additional cost. Whatever extra it cost to hire them is the most that can be charged to Restaurateur. Yet the Special Referee charged the entire, not the extra, cost of

Carolina Construction Solutions to Restaurateur, LLC. (R. pp. 10, 13-14) (Supp. Order, pp. 2, 5-6)).

The “Bid” submitted by Elite Construction Co. as part of the contract contained \$92,780 for “Electrical Materials and Labor Site Work.” (R. 757 (D’s Ex. 1, p. 2); *see also* R. p. 179, lines 22-25; R. p. 200, lines 8-13; Tr. 152:22-25; 173:8-13). Yet Elite Construction spent only \$35,521.62 on Electrical Materials and Labor Site Work. This includes \$3,414.81 to Atlantic Electric, LLC (R. p. 698 (Pl.’s Ex. 13, p. 1), \$4,910.00 to Bell Electric (*id.*),<sup>4</sup> \$847.75 to City Electric (R. p. 699) (*id.*, p. 2), \$23,421.00 to City Lighting (*id.*), \$275.81 to Red Mountain Lighting Products (R. p. 703 (*id.*, p. 6), and \$3,500.00 to Turner Electric (*id.*).

Vince admitted he did not spend the \$92,780 budgeted for electrical work.

Q: So you -- you quoted -- you quoted in your electrical labor and materials 92,000 dollars -- 92,780 --

A: Uh-huh.

(R. p. 179, lines 22-25; Tr. 152:22-25).

Q: And -- and to clarify, did you spend 92,780 on -- in electrical?

A: No, [I] did not.

(R. p. 199, lines 3-5; Tr. 172:3-5).

---

<sup>4</sup> Vince maintained at trial that the work of Bell Electric is not within the scope of the project, and thus not within the \$92,780. (R. p. 122, lines 20-23; Tr. 95:20-23). If so, Vince spent less than the \$35,521.62 figure in text. Vince’s claim that he is entitled to the \$92,780 budgeted while Restaurateur separately pays \$66,664.16 to electricians is preposterous.

Vince also admitted that the work of Carolina Construction Solutions was on matters that were part of the contract between Elite Construction Co. and Eagles Landing Restaurant. (R. p. 237, line 24 – p. 238, line 2; Tr. 210:24-211:1-2).

Yet the Orders held Restaurateur responsible for the full contract price, plus the full charge of the electricians who performed work that was supposed to be done under the contract. The Original Order held Restaurateur responsible for the full \$624,354.00 amount of the contract between Restaurateur and Contractor. (R. p. 8 (Order, p. 8)). The Supplemental Order assigned to Restaurateur liability for all funds paid or due to Carolina Construction. (R. pp. 11, 13-14 (Supp. Ord. p. 3, 5-6)).

There was simply no reason to require Restaurateur to both pay Contractor \$92,780 for electrical materials and labor site work that was supposed to be done under the contract, and to separately pay the company that did the bulk of that work. In so holding, the order was clearly erroneous. It erred as a matter of law in denying Restaurateur Eagles Landing a setoff to which it was clearly entitled. To the extent if any that the matter might be a question subject to an abuse of discretion standard, it was an abuse of discretion to deny Restaurateur a setoff to which it is clearly entitled. The result is the same under any standard of review. Restaurateur Eagles Landing is entitled to a setoff of \$57,258.38 (\$92,780 minus \$35,521.62).

This Court should so hold.

## II. THE SPECIAL REFEREE MADE A MATHEMATICAL OR CLERICAL ERROR THAT THIS COURT SHOULD CORRECT.

### Standard of Review

The standard of review is de novo. Appellate courts provide no deference to lower courts regarding conclusions of math, nor do appellate courts hesitate to correct clerical errors. See *Trotter v. Trane Coil Facility*, 393 S.C. 637, 651, 714 S.E.2d 289, 296 (2011) (correcting clerical error and noting that Rule 60 has no explicit time limit for correction of clerical errors).

Additionally, assuming, arguendo, that another standard of review applies, the error still would properly be corrected on appeal. If the proper standard were “clearly erroneous,” it is clearly erroneous to produce mathematical or clerical errors. If the proper standard were abuse of discretion, lower courts do not have discretion to make mathematical errors, and it is an abuse of discretion to make clerical errors.

### Discussion

The Special Referee’s original order noted, “The Parties acknowledge that at the time of trial the Defendant had paid \$390,888.33 to third-party vendors and subcontractors related to the project.” (R. p. 2 (First Order, p. 2)). The order then states that the Referee has identified \$97,607.74 in amounts that Defendant had paid to third parties that “do not fall within the scope of the contract.” (*Id.*, pp. 4-5). The order then credits \$212,195.26 as “Payments Made by [Defendant] Eagles Landing” that fell within the scope of the contract (*Id.*, pp. 3-4, 8).

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