THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

**RECEIVED**

**Aug 10 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

---

APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY

Eugene P. Warr, Jr., Special Referee

---

Appellate Case No.: 2019-001062

---

Vincent C. Carter, d/b/a Elite  
Construction Co.,

Respondent,

v.

Eagles Landing Restaurants, LLC,

Appellant.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

Finklea, Hendrick & Blake, LLC  
Patrick B. Ford, Esquire  
S.C. Bar No.: 102521  
P.O. Box 1317  
Florence, SC 29503  
(843) 317-4900  
Attorney for Respondent

**

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

**b. The Appellant is not entitled to lost profits because it breached the Contract.**

In South Carolina, courts use a three-part test to determine whether a party is entitled to lost profits in a breach of contract claim. *Id.* 310 S.C. at 234-35, 423 S.E.2d at 115. In order to recover lost profits in a breach of contract action the party asserting the claim must show that (1) the profits were prevented or lost as a natural consequence of the breach, (2) the lost profits were foreseeable, and (3) the lost profits must be established with reasonable certainty. *Id.*

In *South Carolina Federal Savings Bank*, Thornton Crosby Development Company, Inc. (the “Developer”) contracted with T.R. Tucker Construction Co., Inc. (the “Builder”) to construct and complete an ocean-front condominium in Garden City, South Carolina. *Id.* 310 S.C. at 233, 423 S.E.2d at 115. The Builder and Developer entered the contract in May of 1984. *Id.* The Construction was to be completed by December 31, 1984. *Id.* The project was financed by South Carolina Federal Savings Bank (the “Bank”). *Id.* The Bank required, among other items, performance and payment bonds. *Id.* Construction began after June 4, 1984, but fell behind schedule shortly thereafter. *Id.* The Builder abandoned the project on November 18, 1985. *Id.*

On February 24, 1986, the Bank filed suit to foreclose on the property against the Developer, Builder, and Hartford Accident Indemnity Co., Inc. (the “Surety”). *Id.* 310 S.C. at 234, 423 S.E.2d at 115. The Developer asserted cross-claims against the Builder and the Surety for Breach of Contract. *Id.* The contract claims were referred with finality to the Master, who awarded judgment to the Developer against the Builder and the Surety in the amount of \$1,029,0555.80. *Id.* Lost profits in the amount of \$382,600.00 were included in the Developer’s damages award. *Id.* The Builder appealed and the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed the Master’s Order. *Id.* The Builder subsequently appealed to the Supreme Court of South Carolina. *Id.*

There, the Master found that the Builder failed to perform and was in breach of contract. *See id.* 310 S.C. at 235, 423 S.E.2d at 116. Because the Developer would have realized a profit had the Builder performed in accordance with the contract, the Master awarded lost profits. *Id.*

Like in *South Carolina Federal Savings Bank*, the Respondent and Appellant entered into a construction contract with a fixed deadline. (*See R.* p. 492-500). However, in this case, the Special Referee found in favor of the Respondent rather than the Appellant, while in *South Carolina Federal Savings Bank*, the Master found for the Developer. (*R.* p. 3). Because the Special Referee found in favor of the Respondent, the Appellant was not entitled to lost profits. *South Carolina Federal Savings Bank*, 310 S.C. at 234-35, 423 S.E.2d at 115 (“First, profits must have been prevented or lost as a natural consequence of the breach of contract.”).

Here, the Special Referee found that the Appellant breached the contract with the Respondent in failing to pay the Respondent under the Contract. (*R.* p. 3). Implicit in the Special Referee’s finding of the Appellant’s breach was that the delay in the upfit was not the fault of the Respondent. While the Appellant asserts that the project was to be completed on August 9, 2015,

120 days from the date the Contract was executed, construction did not begin until June of 2015, nearly two months from the date the Contract was entered. (R. pp. 493-494; R. p. 108, lines 7-9). The Respondent was unable to begin the renovations for the upfit because the Appellant was waiting to secure financing. (R. p. 35, line 24-p. 37, line 4; R. p. 109, lines 1-25). The Appellant was unable to secure financing due to the divorce. (R. p. 36, lines 4-12, R. p. 44, lines 1-9; R. p. 361, line 18-p. 362, line 4). The Respondent had no control over the Appellant's divorce proceedings or the Appellant's ability to obtain financing.

The project was further delayed as a result of issues with mold at the job site. (R. p. 64, line 11- p. 65, line 1; R. p. 240, lines 19-25). The mold issue delayed the project for at least a week, if not a week and a half. (R. p. 64, lines 11-18, 25-p. 65, line 1; R. p. 321, lines 5-11). Furthermore, a delay was caused when the Appellant required the Respondent to remove the existing floor in the kitchen and pour a whole new floor. (R. p. 219, line 3-p. 220, line 22; R. p. 240, lines 19-25). Thus, there was sufficient evidence presented to the Special Referee to support a finding that the delays to the upfit were not caused by or within the control of the Respondent. Therefore, Special Referee correctly ruled by declining to award the Appellant lost profits. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the Special Referee's decision.

**c. The Appellant is not entitled to recover lost profits because the evidence it offered failed to establish lost profits with reasonable certainty.**

Assuming *arguendo* that the Appellant were entitled to lost profits as a result of the Respondent's breach of the Contract, the Appellant failed to establish its alleged lost profits with reasonable certainty. A party seeking to recover lost profits as the result of a breach of contract action must establish lost profits with reasonable certainty. *South Carolina Federal Savings*

*Bank*, 310 S.C. at 234-35, 423 S.E.2d at 115. Under the third part of the test, “recovery cannot be had for profits that are conjectural or speculative.” *Id.* 310 S.C. at 235, 423 S.E.2d at 115.

There are numerous methods for proving lost profits. *Global Protection Corp., v. Halbersberg*, 332 S.C. 149, 158, 503 S.E.2d 483 (Ct. App. 1998).

Proof of [lost profits] may be established through expert testimony, economic and financial data, market surveys and analyses, business records of similar enterprises, comparison with profit performance of businesses similar in size, nature and location, comparison with profit history of [the party’s] successor, comparison of similar businesses owned by [the party itself] and use of economic and financial data and expert testimony.

*Id.* (citing *Drews Co.*, 296 S.C. at 213-14, 371 S.E.2d at 536).

In *Drews Co.*, the Drews Company, Inc. (the “Contractor”) contracted to renovate a building owned by Ledwith-Wolfe Associates, Inc. (the “Owner”). *Id.* 296 S.C. at 208, 371 S.E.2d at 533. The project in that case was plagued by construction delays from the beginning. *Id.* Eventually, the Contractor abandoned the job and sued the Owner to foreclose a mechanic’s lien. *Id.* The Owner counterclaimed for breach of contract, claiming the Contractor’s delays caused the Owner to lose profits from the restaurant. *Id.* The jury returned a verdict in favor of Contractor and also awarded the Owner damages for its counterclaim, including \$14,000.00 in lost profits. *Id.*

To prove its lost profits the Owner relied on a sheet of paper reflecting the gross profits the restaurant made in the first 11 months. *Id.* 296 S.C. at 214, 371 S.E.2d at 536. There, the South Carolina Supreme Court held the evidence presented by Owner was insufficient to submit to the jury because it did not establish lost profits with a reasonable certainty. *Id.* The evidence

was insufficient because it failed to provide figures for overhead or operating expenditures. *Id.* While the Owner testified that one-third of the gross figure would be net profit, the Supreme Court still held the evidence to be insufficient. *Id.*

The Appellant has failed to proffer evidence sufficient to establish lost profits with reasonable certainty. While the Appellant in this case did furnish a profit and loss statement that accounted for overhead and operating expenditures, the Appellant only provided a profit and loss statement for one month. (R. p. 509). Neither the Appellant's principal, Mr. Makawi, or its bookkeeper could provide the net profits for months immediately following December of 2015. (R. p. 304, line 14-p. 305, line 7; R. p. 407, line 4-p. 408, line 3). While both Mr. Makawi and the bookkeeper testified that the other months were similar, Mr. Makawi also testified that opening months have greater sales than other months. (*Id.*). However, there is nothing in the record showing how much the Appellant lost in January of 2016.

In *Global Protection Corp.*, a case involving trademark infringement, the Plaintiff, Global Protection Corp. was awarded lost profits by the Master. *Global Protection Corp.*, 332 S.C. at 152. There, the South Carolina Court of Appeals upheld the Master's award for lost profits. *Id.* at 158. In that case, the Plaintiff's President testified that its West Coast market experienced a 590% increase in profit in the relevant time period. *Id.* The President further testified that the Plaintiff's East Coast market would have performed similar but for the intentional infringement. *Id.* The President testified that the comparison between the East Coast

Market and the Southern California Market was reasonable because both were tourist beach resorts. *Id.*

Unlike in *Global Protection Corp.*, where the party claiming lost profits provided data of a similar region during the same time frame, the Appellant did not provide evidence of the subsequent month's sales. Given Mr. Makawi's testimony that sales in the opening month were greater than in subsequent months, (R. p. 407, line 23-p. 408, line 3), the Appellant should have furnished a profit and loss statement for January as well. *See Global Protection Corp.*, 332 S.C. at 158. Therefore, the Appellant failed to establish lost profits with reasonable certainty. Even assuming that the Appellant was entitled to lost profits by virtue of the Respondent's alleged breach, the Special Referee did not err when it declined to award the Appellant lost profits. Therefore, this Court should affirm the decision of the Special Referee.

**d. This Court should not vacate the portion of the Order that refused to award the Appellant lost profits because the Appellant failed to prevail on its breach of contract claim.**

Rule 52(a) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure requires that the court must find the facts specially and state its conclusions of law separately in all actions tried without a jury. Rule 52(a), SCRPC. The findings in an order must be sufficient to permit the appellate court to ensure the law is faithfully executed below. *In re Treatment & Care of Luckabaugh*, 351 S.C. 122, 133, 568 S.E.2d 338, 343 (2002). In this case, the Special Referee, based on the evidence presented, found that the Appellant had breached the contract with the Respondent. (R.

p. 3). The Order further provides that it is clear from the evidence that the Appellant failed to pay the Respondent for various draws after demanded. *Id.*

The findings of the Special Referee relating to the Appellant's breach of the Contract are clear and are supported by the evidence. Because the Appellant breached the Contract, it is not entitled to recover lost profits. *South Carolina Federal Savings Bank*, 310 S.C. at 234-35, 423 S.E.2d at 115. Therefore, this Court should affirm the Special Referee's decision denying the Appellant its lost profits.

**IV. The Appellant did not preserve the issue of whether the Special Referee applied the wrong standard on the Appellant's Rule 59 Motion, therefore this Court cannot address the issue.**

A losing party must try to convince the lower court it has ruled wrongly before it can convince the appellate court that the lower court erred. *I'ON, LLC, v. Town of Mount Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 421-422, 526, S.E.2d 716 (2000). "If the losing party has raised an issue in the lower court, but the court fails to rule upon it, the party must file a motion to alter or amend the judgment in order to preserve the issue for appellate review. *Id.* (citations omitted). In this case, the Appellant asks the court to remand the case because the Special Referee applied the wrong standard to its Rule 59 Motion. However, the Appellant never raised the issue with the Special Referee. The Appellant only filed one Rule 59 Motion. In order to preserve this issue for review, the Appellant needed to file a motion to alter or amend the Special Referee's Supplemental Order, which it alleges applied the wrong standard when denying its motion. *Id.* 338 S.C. at 421. Consequently, this Court cannot address this issue on appeal. *See id.*

**V. While the Special Referee may have applied the wrong standard in ruling on the Respondent's Rule 59 Motion, any such error was harmless.**

Even if the Special Referee applied the wrong standard any such error was harmless. The Special Referee applied federal case law when ruling on the Appellant and Respondent's Rule 59 Motions. (R. pp. 11-12). Federal law, which provides that a Rule 59(e) motion may not be used to converse old matters, *Pacific Ins. Co. v. American Nat'l Fire Assoc.*, 148, F.3d 396, 403 (4th Cir. 1998), is antithetical to South Carolina law which permits a court to reconsider a decision "even if it means rehashing all or part of an argument previously presented[,]" *Elam v. S.C. DOT*, 361 S.C. 9, 21, 602 S.E.2d 772 (2004).

While the Special Referee may have applied the wrong standard, the Supplemental Order provides in pertinent part:

After considering the grounds raised in the motion of the Plaintiff and Defendant, and after reviewing the transcript of the trial, including the testimony of the witnesses and the exhibits that were admitted into evidence, as well as the notes from the trial, this Court denies both the Plaintiff's Motion to Reconsider and the Defendant's Motion to Amend.

(R. p. 13). It is clear that the Special Referee, while citing to federal law, considered the grounds contained in the motions of both parties, which were the same as the grounds raised during the trial. *Id.* Therefore, any error asserted by the Appellant is harmless. *Higgins v. Medical University of South Carolina*, 326 S.C. 592, 486 S.E.2d 269, 275 (Ct. App. 1997) (holding that the conversion of a 12(b)(6) motion into a summary judgment motion is harmless error when, without reference to matters outside of the complaint, dismissal can still be justified under Rule 12(b)(6)). Because the error is harmless, this Court should affirm the Special Referee's decision.

### **CONCLUSION**

This Court should affirm the Special Referee's decision. The Appellant is not entitled to setoff as a matter of law. Even if this Court concludes that the Appellant is entitled to a setoff as a matter of law, the amount of the setoff should not exceed the amount of the principal balance

due to Carolina Construction Services. Furthermore, the Special Referee properly accounted for all payments made under the Contract or the evidence supported its findings. While the Order contains a clerical error in the amount of \$100.00, this Court may and should correct the error by reducing the judgment by \$100.00.

Likewise, the Appellant is not entitled to lost income because it was found to be the breaching party. Even if the Respondent had breached the Contract, the Appellant failed to prove establish lost profits with reasonable certainty. Additionally, the Special Referee's findings of fact and conclusions of law as to the breach are clear enough for this Court to ensure that the law was faithfully executed by the Special Referee. Finally, the Appellant failed to raise the issue of whether the Special Referee applied the wrong standard when denying the Appellant's Rule 59 Motion. Even if the Special Referee applied the wrong standard, the error was harmless.

In the event that this Court determines that the Special Referee did not make specific findings of fact regarding the unaccounted for payments to S&D Coffee and Johnson Concrete, or the Appellant's claims for lost profits, it should remand the matter to the Special Referee for further consideration.